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Tax Advice Disclosure: To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS under
Circular 230, we inform you that any U.S. federal tax advice contained in this communication
(including any attachments), unless otherwise specifically stated, was not intended or written to
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Revenue Code or (2) promoting, marketing or recommending to another party any matters

addressed herein. Click the following hyperlink to view the complete Gunster IRS Disclosure &
Confidentiality note.
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Writer’s Direct Dial Number: (850) 521-1706
Writer's E-Mail Address: bkeating@gunster.com

March 21, 2011

VIA ELECTRONIC FILING/ FILINGS@PSC.STATE.FL.US

Ms. Ann Cole

Commission Clerk

Florida Public Service Commission
2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0850

Docket No. 110056-TP - Complaint against Verizon Florida, LLC and MCI

Communications Services, Inc. d/b/a Verizon Business Services for failure to pay intrastate
access charges for the origination and termination of intrastate interexchange
telecommunications service, by Bright House Networks Information Services (Florida),
LLC.

Dear Ms. Cole:

Attached for electronic filing, please find Bright House Networks Information Services (Florida),

LLC’s Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss filed by Verizon in the above-captioned matter.
Service has been made in accordance with the attached Certificate.

Thank you for you assistance with this filing. Should you have any questions whatsoever, please
do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,
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BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUELIC SERVICE COMMISSION

In re: Complaint against Verizon Florida, LLC
and MCI Communications Services, Inc. d/b/a
Verizon Business Services for failure to pay
intrastate access charges for the origination and
termination of intrastate interexchange B :
telecommunications service, by Bright House Docket No., 110056-TP
Networks Information Services (Florida), LL.C. ' '

OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS OR STAY COMPLAINT
" Bright House Networks Information Services (Flodda), LLC, (“Bﬂght House-CLEC™)
through its attorneys, hereby responds to the motion by Verizon Florida? LLC and MCI
Communications Services, Inc, d/b/a Verizon Business Services (coilectivel‘y, “Verizon"’)1 to
dismiss or stay Bright Houée-CLEC’s complaint against Verizon arising from Verizon’s failure to
pay Bright House-CLEC’s lawful énd effective intrastate access charges.? |
L | INTROD.UCTION AND SUMMARY.
Veﬁzon’s Ihotion to dismiss is based on two main claims, bci.th of which are without merit.
There is no dispute that the Florida Legislature has deregulated VoIP servicesl. Verizon?:
however, seeks to leverage that fact into the completely uniyarranted claim that plain old telephone

' traffic on the public switched telephone network (“PSTN™) is also deregulated, whenever it begins

! As in the Complaint, we refer to both entities together as “Verizon.” When it is necessary to treat

them separately, we refer to “Verizon Business™ and “Verizon-ILEC” To avoid any confusion, we refer to
Brlght House Networks Information Services (Florida) LLC — that is, the certificated local exchange carrier

as “Bright House-CLEC.” By contrast, we refer to Bright House Networks, LLC — that is, the cable
operator and retail voice service provider — as “Bright House-Cable.”

2 Although we strongly oppose both Vetizon’s motion to dismiss and its alternative motion to stay,

we concur in Verizon’s suggestion that the Commission hear argument on its motions. Moreover, while (as
explained in this pleading) it is clear that Verizon’s claims are baseless, it has raised so many issues, and
confused enough different points, that we suggest that each side be given 30 minutes to address the issues.
In this regard, as noted in the Complaint, Verizon owes Bright House-CLEC millions of dollars in unpaid
access fees, and that amount grows by about $500,000 per month. Complaint, 1§ 7, 36. In these
circumstances, we respectfully request that the Commission schedule oral argument on this matter as
promptly as its schedule permits.
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or ends on a deregulated VolIP service. Based on this erroneous and illogical claim, Verizon says
that when Bright House—CLEC (a PSTN carrier, not a VoIP provider) exchangeé such traffic with
Verizon (a'PSTN carrier, not a VolIP provider), the normal regulatory l;ules and requirements
governing the carrier-to-carrier excﬁange of traffic do.not apply. Specifically, Verizon claims that
.this wholesale traffic exchange on the'PS’I‘N is exempt from Bright House-CLEC’s standard,
binding access service price list, and that this C;ommissiori is powerless even lo consider the
question of whether that p'rice_-list applies.

Verizon’s outlandish claim is foreclosed by the plain meanihg of Florida Statufes
§§,364.02(14)tg;) andl36'4.02(l3). Section 364.02(14)(g) says that even though interexchange
" carriers (“f)(Cs”) like Verizon are largely déregulated, they are obliged to “continue to pay” access
charges to local exchénge- carriers (“‘L]-S,Cs’;).3 And Section 364.02(13) says that even though the
Legislature is deregulating VoIP scrvicés, “nofhing [in. that defegulation] shall affect” thé
obhgation of carriers to pay access charges. Yet the essence of Verizon’s entire argument is that
the deregulated status of retail VoIP service not only “affects” Verizon’s obligation to pay
wholesale access charges to Bright Hquse-CLEC, it totally obliterates that obligation, Verizon’s
~ position simply cannot be squared with what the Florida Legislature h'asl actually said.

It is easy to sec what is wrong with Verizon’s pésition by looking at héw it would apply to
another service that the ‘Legislature has deregulated - Wirclcss. From a statutory ﬁcrspective,

wireless service is just like VoIP service.* Under Verizon’s theory, calls to and from wireless

3 - IXCs remain subject to a number of other specific statutory obligations as well. See Florida Statutes,
©§364.02(14)(g). ' ‘ |

4 Verizon Motion at 7 n.11. VoIP and wireless are treated in an exactly parallel manner in the'

Commission’s enabling legislation. See, e.g., Florida Statutes § 364.01(3) (“Communications activities that
are not regulated by the Florida Public Service Commission, including, but not limited to, VoIP, wireless,
and broadband...”); Florida Statutes, § 364.011 (“The following services are exempt from oversight by the
commission, except to the extent delineated in this chapter or specifically authorized by federal law: ... (3)

‘ (note continued)...



services would be exempt from Commission jurisdiction and normal regulatory rules, But if that
were true, then Florida ILECs would already be authorized — today — to charge basic service
customers a special., deregulated fee ($5.00, $10.00, or more) for every call they send to or receive
from‘a wireless network. After all, under Verizon’s logic, if ndrmal tariffs and regulatory rules do
not apply when Bright House-CLEC accepts a call from Verlzon ~ because it is going to an
_ ‘unregulated VoIP prov1der — then normal tariffs and regulatory rules do not apply when Verlzon— .
ILEC takes a call from one of its end users and delivers it to an unregulated wireless carrier.

Of course, this is absurd. Thg (regulated) job of a carrier is to transmit calls wﬁere’ they are
supposed to go. The fact t'hai some of the calls get sent to, or received from, dei-egulated services
like VoIP or wireless, does not magically deregulate the carrier’s function as well. Moreover,
under Verizon’s logic, wireless carriers would be immune ﬁoﬁ havi_ng to pay access charges for
_ inter-MTA calls, since rctail_wirélcss service is deregulated. In fact, however, wireless carriers pay
access charges for these calls like any other user of access service.” Verizon cannot abuse its lécal
service customers by charging' them outrageous and unregulated fees for seﬁding calls to, or
rcceiviﬁg calls ffom, deregulated wireless natworkls.." And V.eriz'on cannot abuse Brigi'lt' House-
CLEC by refusing to pay its' access bills simply bé;:ause the traffic is going to, or com'.ing from, |
deregulated VolIP services.

| The Florida Leglslatu:e created a reglme under which local and long dlstancc services
remain regulated (at least in part), whﬂe other services — such as retml VoIP and w1reless servwés -

are outside the Commnss‘non 'S _]urlSdlCthIl. It did not create a regime in which the Commission’s

..(note continued)
VoIP (4) Wireless telecommunications, mcludmg commercnal mobile radio service provnders”)

> See In the Matter of Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions in the Telecommunications

Act of 1996, First Report and Order, 11 FCC Red 15499 (1996) at Y9 1036, 1043.




regulétory authority ovef intrastate traffic.on thé PSTN rots away from ﬁae core every time &
regulated carrier handles a call to or from v_;firele.ss, VolIP, or some other deregulated service.
Verizon’s second nﬁaiﬁ ground for dismissing the Coxﬁplaint is the notion that a}l “VolP
services are iﬁherently interstate and sﬁbject to the exclusive jﬁrisdicti_on of the F.CC.”6 This is
wrong ras'well. First, althoﬁgh Veﬁzon caﬁ speculate about what fhe FCC might do "Ln the future,
the courts have conclusively ruled that the FCC has not preempted state Jurlsdlctlon over fixed
VolP services of the type provided by Bright House-Cable To the contrary, the courts have ruled —
consistent with the FCC’s own plain statements — that preemption of VoIP services is limited to
situations where the retail VoIP provider cannot identi.fy the end points of _balls to and from its
subscribers.” Where the end points of a call to or from a VoIP provider can be identified, there is
no preemptidn. Since Bright House-CLEC can identify the end points of calls to and from Bright

House-Cable’s retail VoIP subscribers, no federal preemption applies to this case.?

¢ Verizon Motion at 2. Verizon also asserts that VoIP is “an information service under federal law,”

id., even though the FCC has repeatedly refused to make such a ruling. Indeed, the FCC, in the very
rulemaking notice on which Verizon. relies to seek a stay of the case, expressly noted that it has not

determined the classification of VoIP services. See In the Matter of Connect America Fund, et. al, Notice of

Proposed Rulemaking and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, WC Docket Nos. 10-90 et al,, FCC 11-

13 (FCC February 9, 2011) (“USF/Intercarrier Compensation NPRM”) at Y| 73 (“To date, the Commission

has not classified interconnected VoIP service as éither an information service or a telecommunications

service™),

7 Minnesota Public Ulilities Commission v. FCC, 483 F. 3d 570, 582-83 (8th Cir. 2007) (although the
FCC suggested that it might preempt state authonty over fixed VolP services, the FCC’s order “does not -
purport to actually do s0”).

8 Verizon suggests that it may want to dispute some of the factual allegations in our Complamt See

Verizon Motion at 4 n.5. For purposes of the motion to dismiss, however, our factual allegations must be
taken as correct. Here, that means that the Commission must accept the fact that we are able to properly
identify the end points of traffic to or from Bright House-Cable. Verizon is correct that it literally involves
some legal reasoning to go from the fact that we know the end points of the disputed traffic to the conclusion-
that the traffic is jurisdictionally intrastate and that preemption does not apply, id, the statements of the
courts and the FCC on this point are entirely clear, so no particular leap of legal logic is required. Moreover,
Florida courts have held that a case should not be dismissed when dismissal requires a determination of
mixed questions of law and fact. See Regis Ins. Co. v. Miami Management, Inc., 902 So. 2d 966, 2005 Fla.
App. LEXIS 9078 (Ct, App. Fl. 2005) (lower court dismissal reversed because it “included a mixed question
(note continued)...




But Verizon’s mgmnent is wrong even if, as Verizon elaims, alt retail VoIP service is
deregulated as a matter of federal .law._ Florida and federal law use the same definition of VoIP
service, whi_ch‘ is an end user service that uses a bfoadband Intemefc connection and specialized
equipment to. aﬂow customers to maice' calls to, and receive_ calls from, the PSTN.? The fact t_hat
_ this specialized retail service is deregulated does not mean that wholesale services on the PSjN- are
deregulated as well. To the contrery, the very definition ef VoIP service recognizes the distinction
between VoIP —. the retail service offered to end ﬁsers via a broadband Internet connection — and :
the services and functions previded by the PSTN — such as access service — to which an
interconnected VoIP service is attached. The fact that the very deﬁiu'tion of VoIP embodies and
preserves the distinction between VoIP service and the PSTN refutes Verizon’s “infection” theory,
| un&er which the normal rules governing wholesale earrier—to-carrier traffic exehenge on the PSTN
do not apply to calls to or from a deregulated retail service. Traffic on the PS.'I‘N is subject to
normal regulatory rules and requirements — mclu&ing the application of tariffs and price lists -
without regard to whether it begins and/or ends with"a deregulated sel‘vic.:e.10 |

Finally with regard to Veriz_on’s motion to dismiss,.we note t_hat when the Commissioﬁ was

confronted with a motion to dismiss in another case involving applyi‘ng access charges_te traffic -

...(note continued) _

of law and fact, which is not appropriate at the motion to dismiss stage™). At a minimum, the jurisdictional

status of entirely physically intrastate access services provided in comnection with entirely physically

intrastate calls that begin or end with a VoIP subscriber constitutes such a mixed question of law and fact,
making dismissal without the development of a record inappropriate.

s Florida Statutes, § 364. 02(16) defines “VoIP” by reference to federal law. Federal law defines VoIP

-as a service that makes use of a broadband connection and specialized equipment to allow customers to send
calls to and receive calls from the PSTN. 47 CF.R. § 9.3; 47 U.S.C. § 153(25) (adopting, for purposes of
the Communications Act, regulatory definition of interconnected VoIP service).

19 As noted in the Complaint, essentially all the state regulators to consider this issue have found that it

is appropriate to apply normal tariffed rates to calls coming from, or going to, VoIP services. Complaint at
78 & n. 15. If federal law preempted state action on this issue, every one of those state regulators would
have reached the opposite conclusion. This is strong evidence that Verizon’s theory is wrong,




that begins ér ends with a VoIP subscfiber, it allowed the case to go forward.” While Verizon’s
claims here are clearly wrong and should be rejected entirclyr, we submit that, at a minimum, our
claims are strong enough that the Commission should allow the case to go forward, including any
appropriate discovery, testimony, etc., in order to allow the Commission to decide the matter on the
basis of full"evidence and 'argulﬁlent.u
Verizon moves in the alternative that this case be stayed while ﬂlé ECC consideré what to
doina recehtly-initiated rulemaking p:oceeding.” Verizon touts the supposed speedland efficiency |
w1th which the FCC will act, but it can only state when comments on .the FCC’s rulemaking
.prclaposals are due, not when tﬁe FCC will actually decide anything. On this topic, to be as
diplomatic as possible, at least for the last decade ‘or so, the FCC has had difﬁculty reaching firm
conclusions about intercarrier compensaﬁoﬁ._ The sﬁeciﬁc question of whether the FCC should set
. rules for intercarrier compensation for some or all calling arrangements that might be called “VoIP”

(or, to use an older term, “IP telephony”) has been pending since at least 2001."* Even if Verizon’s

1 Complaint Against MCJI Communications Services, Inc. D/B/A Verizon Business Services For

* Failure To Pay Intrastate Access Charges Pursuant To Embarg's Tariffs; By Embarg Florida, Inc., Order
Denying MCI Communications Services, Inc. D/B/A Verizon Business Services' Motion To Dismiss
Complaint, Order No. PSC-08-0782-PCO-TP, DOCKET NO. 080308-TP (FL. PSC November 13, 2008).

12 In this regard, as noted above, it is inappropriate to dismiss a case if doing so i‘equires ruling,

without a record or evidence, on central issues that are mixed questions of law and fact. Regis Ins. Co. v.
Miami Management, Inc., 902 So. 2d 966, 2005 Fla. App. LEXIS 9078 (Ct. App. Fl. 2005) (Iower court
dismissal reversed because it “included a mixed question of law and fact, which is not appropriate at the
motion to dismiss stage™), If the Commission’s jurisdiction over intrastate traffic to or from a VolP
subseriber is not entirely clear — which we believe it is — then at least that question constitutes a mixed
question of law and fact as to which the Commission should develop a record prior to rendering a decision.
We also note that granting Verizon’s motion would immediately give license to all IXCs in Florida to simply
stop paying some or all access charges to all LECs in Florida — including the LECs serving the largest
number of customers on a competitive basis, but also to smialler, rural ILECs as well. [t seems unlikely that
the Commlssmn would want to set a precedent w1th such far—reachmg results without the benefit of a full
record. :

= Verizon Motion at 2, 26-30.

1 See Developing A Unified Intercarrier Compensation Regime, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 16

FCC Rcd 9610 (2001); Developing A Unifi ed Intercarrier Compensatlon Regime, Further Notice. of
(note contmucd)



faith' that the FCC will promptly resolve these questions is sincere (which we doubt, for the reasons

explained below), that faith .harc.i‘iy provides a soun‘d‘ basis on which this Commission can, or

should, base its own decisions."

In fact, Verizon’s desire to put this poooee_ding on hold while the FCC dithers is entirely
self-serving. Verizon has unilaterally declared what it wants the FCC to do - hold that aceess _
charges do not apply to calls to or -from fixed Volf subscribers — and on the strength of its own
prognostication has ceased _payiog itsr access bills. Given that Verizon is flouting its obligation to

pay its bills, and obviously will not pay them until it is ordered to do so, it is hardly surprising that

Verizon wants this Commission to do nothing. As long as the Commission stays its hand, Verizon

gets a free ride on Bright House-CLEC’s network'®

..(note continued)
Proposed Rulemaking, 20 FCC Red 4685 {2005). The FCC’s latest foray into this arena, on which Verizon
places such high hopes, is in part simply a continuation of this decade-old docket. In fairness to the FCC,
the agency at least recognizes its perennial inability to act, noting that “[a]Jlthough the Commission has

‘sought comment on a variety of proposals over the last decade to comprehensively reform intercarrier

compensation, such efforts stalled, leaving the current antiquated rules in place.” USF/Intercarrier
Compensation NPRM at § 501. Antiquated though they may be; current intercarrier compensation rules
indeed remain in place today, and will do so for the foreseeable future. Verizon is not free to 1gnore those
rules until the FCC actually changes them.

s The comparison that most suggests itself is that of Charlie Brown, ever willing to belicve that this

time, for sure, Lucy will actually allow him to kick the football, rather than pull it-away at the last minute.

~ See htip:/fen.wikipedia.org/wiki/Charlie_Brown (“Charlie Brown is a lovable loser ... ultimately dominated

by ... a ‘permanent case of bad luck.’ He and Lucy Van Pelt star in a running gag that recurs throughout the
series: Lucy holds a football for Charlie Brown to kick, but pulls it away before he kicks it, causing Charlie
Brown to fly into the air and fall on his back”).

Is To see the unfairness in Verizon’s proposal, consider that on March 17, 2011, the Chairman of the

Hous¢ Ways and Means Committee proposed that income taxes should be capped at 25% of adjusted gross

~ income, See J.D. McKinnon, “Tax Plan Aims for 25% Cap,” WALL STREET JOURNAL (March 17, 2011)
- hitpi//online, wsj.com/article/SB10001424052748703899704576204971305258778.htm1?mod=WSJ _hp MI

DDLENexttoWhatsNewsThird. Suppose that in light of this proposal, Verizon immediately stopped paying
that portion of its corporate income taxes that exceed the proposed 25% cap. The IRS would be
unimpressed with Verizon’s willingness to believe that this time, for sure, long-promised reform of the
federal tax code was just around the corner. And when the IRS started a collection action, nobody would
seriously consider staying that action because the proposed 25% cap was pending,



"Maybe the FCC will surprise us all- and quickly establish new rules for intercarrier
compensation for VoIP. Maybe it won’t. The FCC will do what it will do, and the industry and
state regulators will deal w1th ény FCC decision that may actually ble forthcoming. But the fact that
‘;he FCC is fet again embaf_king on a grand plan to‘thoroughly reform intercarrier éompensation is
no reason to penﬁit Veﬁzon to ignore its prcscnt‘obligé.tions, under present law, to pay its access
charge bills. If and when the FCC finally acts, there will be time enough to implement whatever
the FCC might actually decide to. do. But the fact that it might act, at some unknown future time, is
no reason to delay this proceeding. 7‘ |
IL ARGUMENT. |

A, Verizon’s Claim That Florida Statutery Law Supports Dismissal Of -Its
Case Is Fatally Flawed And Should Be Re]ected

'1. The Fact That VoIP Servu:es Are Deregulated Deoes Not
Deprive The Commission Of Jurisdiction To Resolve
Disputes About Exchange Access Services Provided By A
CLEC To An IXC.
Verizon’s main claim_i’h support of its motion to dismiss is that, because this case involves
“VolIP traffic,” the Commission lacks jurisdiction to hear the matter. Its idea is that, because retail

VolIP service itself is deregulated, plain old PSTN traffic to or from a VoIP subscriber must be

viewed as deregulated as well, Verizon Motion at 4-8, 10-11. Verizon’s argument ignores the

statutes under which the Commission operates, and, in fact, deliberately'blurs the language and =

meaning of those statutes.

There is no dispute that the Legislature has decreed that certain retaii services are not
subject té Commission regulatién. These are listed in Section 364.01(3) as “VoIP, wireless and
broadband,” and in chtion 364.011 as “intrastate intefexchang’e telecommunications services,”
“broadband services,” ;‘VoIP;” and “wireless telecommunicationé, inclﬁding commercial mobile

radio service providers.” Section 364.013 further states that “broadband service” and “the



provisidn of VoIP” are “exempt from Commission jurisdiction.” In light of these statutory
provisions, the‘ Commission could not, for example, get the retail 'rates_flhat a -wireléss carrier
chargés its subscribers, or require that IXCs offer an unlimited usage package, Qr direct that
Verizon offer its FiOS broadband service with at least 100 megabits pér second symmetrical upload
and downlbad speeds. |
| . With respect to VoIP, this means that the Commission cannot dictate the price of Vonage’s -

or Bright House;Céble’s retail VoIP offerings. Th?: unregulated status of VolP services and
providers, however, is not at issue in this case. Th.is' case is 'entirely lirﬁited 1o access services
provided by one entity under the Commission’s jurisdiction (Bright House-CLEC) to two -o'ther
'cntities under the Commission’s jurisdiction (Verizon-ILEC and Verizon-Business). Verizon is
attempting to bootstrap the deregulation of Vo.IP services — which are déﬁned as a service that
connects fo the PSTN - to alse constitute é deregulation of access services on the PSTN. That is a
completgly untenable readiné of the statute, which, if taken seriously, would lead- to absurd and
mlreasonablé results, .

No Florida statute purports to deregulate access serviées, whether provided by a CLEC l_ike
Bright House-CLEC or an ILEC like Verizon-ILEC. To the contrary, while the Leg_islature
deregulated long distance services, it made complef:ely clear that the deregulated status of IXCs and
- the services they offer does not diminish the Commission authority with respect to the obliga..tion. of
-those IXCs to pay appropriate access charges. Thus, in Section 364.02(14)(g), eveﬂ ‘wﬂilc
confirming that intrastate IXCs do not count as regulated “telecommunications companies” uﬁder
the law, the Legislature was at pains to say that IXCs:

shall continue to pay intfastate switched network é.cccss rates or other intercarrier

compensation to the local exchange telecommunications company or the

competitive local exchange telecommunications company for the origination and
termination of interexchange telecommunications service




The legislature took the same apprdacﬁ to ifs deregulation of VoIP services. While noting that the

. definition of “servicé” does not incluée VoIP, the Legislature made clear that “nothing herein” —
that is, nothing about the deregulated status of VolIP — “shall affect the rights and obligations of any
entity related to the payment of switched network access rates or other intercarrier compensation, if
any, related to voice-over-Internet prétocol sérvice.” Section 364.02(13).

It is impossible to read these statutes and conclude that the Legislature wanted to exempt
long distance trafﬂp to or from VoIP providers from accesé ché.rges. Under Section 364.02(14)(g).,
[XCs have to keep paying access charges even though they are generally treated as deregulated.
And in Section 364.02(13), the Legislature said that “nothing [about the deregulated status of VoIP]
shall affect” the obligation of IXCs or any other entity to pé.y access charges. The Cdmmiséion has
jﬁrisdiction to enforce the requirements imposed by Section 364.02(14)(g), and Section 364.02(13)
confirms that those requirements are not affected in any way by the deréguléted status of VoIP
services. These statutes, the;'efore, provide the Commission with subject matter jurisdiction over
this dispute.'” Verizon’s claim that the Legislature has stripped the -Comrnission of jurisdiction to
constder the obligation 0f IXCs to pay access charges — including in connection w1th VolIP traffic -
is direcﬂy foreclosed by the speciﬁ.c language of the statutes juét cited.

Verizon tries to avoid th1s conclusion mainly through the use 6f fuzzy, imprecise language

" to descfibe what the dispute is really about. Thus, Verizon repeatedly uses terms like “VolIP calls,”
“VoIP traffic,” “VoIP activities,” or simply “VoIP” ‘without any modifier,'® as though the
.Legisla_ture, when it déregulated Volf’ providers and VolIP services, meant to deregulate any traffic

on the PSTN bound to or from such providers. This argument fails, however, both because it

17 See Complaint, § 13 (noting statutory grounds for jurisdiction).

13 See Verizon Motion at 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 18,19, 21, 22, 26, 27, 29.

10



.22

ignores the definition of VoIP service, and because it wotﬁd produce absurd results, as examples
from legally parallel services - wireless and intrastate long distance — show. | |

With reg#d to the definition of VoIP, as noted above, Florida statutes refer to federal law.!?
. Federal law defines VoIP as a servié_e that (1) requirés a broadband Internet connection and

specialized customer premises equipment; (2) enables real-time two-way communications, and (3)

permits users to “receive calls that originate on” and “terminate calls to” the PSTN.?® This latter

plortion of the definition embodies the fact that a VoIP service is, itself, something separate and

distinct from the PSTN. VolP services are attached to the PSTN, and can access the PSTN, but

;hey are not, themselves, part of the PSTN.?! The existence of a specific definition of VoIP service

- — which Verizon ignores — is fatal to its attempts to use vague and imprecise 'language to extend the

deregulation of VoIP service into the PSTN itself. _Thé retail VoIP services that Bright House-

Cable offers to its subscribers are deregulated under Florida Iaw. But neither the access services
that Bright House-CLEC provides to Verizon, nor the plain old telephone traffic that Verizon
exchanges with Bright House-CLEC, fall within the definition of “VoIP,” and so cannot be treated

as cquivalent to, or part of, the deregulated VoIP serviy:es.22

19 Florida Statutes, § 364.02(16). Federal law defines VolP service at 47 C. F R. § 9.3. See also 47

- U.S.C. § 153(25) (adopting regulatory jurisdiction for statutory purposes as well).

0 47 C.FR. § 9.3. Note, in this regard, that the very definition of VoIP contemplates a retazl service —

one which end users can use to make and receive calls, albeit in a non-traditional way, using specialized
equipment and connections. By contrast, th¢ carrier-to-carrier access services at issue in this case aré
wholesale services provided by Bright House-CLEC to Verizon.

2 This is one reason why, for cxample, VolP providers are not themselves entifled to obtain telephone

numbers to assign to their subscribers, Only carriers — that is, only entities. that constitute part gf the PSTN
— are entitled to numbers. See 47 CFR., § 52.9(a)(1) (numbering resources only available to
“telecommunications carriers™).

The access services that Bright House-CLEC provides to Verizon do not “require a broadband
. connection from the wser’s location” and do not “require Internet protocol-compatible customer premises
equipment.” See 47 C.F.R. 9.3, definition of “Interconnected VoIP” service, clauses (2) and (3). Similarly,
nothmg about the plain old telephone traffic that Verizon exchanges with Bright House-CLEC, or the
(nate contmued)
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Aside from the fact that the wholesale access serviées at issue in the Complaint do not meet
the definition of VolIP, the irrationality of Verizon’s argument can be seen by considering what it
would mean for deregulated seryiccs ch¢I than VoIP. Under Florida law, wireless and intrastate
long distance services are exempt from Commission jurisdiction, just like VoIP services.”
Verizon’s theory is that the deregulated status of VoIP services and providérs infects traffic to 61j

from VolIP providers as it flows normally through the (regulated) public switched teléphone
network. But if thaf ihcory is correct, it applies “wi_relcss trafﬁc” and to “intrastate interexchange |
traffic” as well.

This would lead to bizarre results. Under this theory, as discussed above, any ILEC in
Florida could charge its resi;ientié.lrend user'sla special $5 .Od-per-call fée to send or receive calls to
any wireless subscriber. This Commission would be powerless to prevent such fees from being

. assessed, because, under Verizon’s theory, the calls to and from wireless networks would be
classified as.unreg_ulated “wireless tfafﬁc,” or pért of @regﬂated “wireless activities,” beyond the
Commission’s jurisdiction. Similarly, any ILEC in Fl;)rida could charge end users a special $5.00-

per-call fee any time the end user sent or received a plain old intrastate long distance call. Again,

...(note continued) :

grrangements between the two carriers, requires a broadband connection or special IP-compatible
équipment. Plainly, thérefore, neither Bright House-CLEC’s access services nor the traffic Verizon
exchanges with Bright House-CLEC constitute “VolP services” within the meaning of Florida of federal
law. As aresult, neither of these functions, and none of this traffic, is deregulated, even though retail VoIP
services are.

= Section 364,01(3) lists “VolIP, wireless, and broadband” as “communications activities that are not

regulated. by the Florida Public Servicer Commission,” and Section 364.011 lists “wireless
telecommunications” along with “intrastate interexchange telecommunications services,” “broadband
services,” and “VoIP” as being “services” that are “exempt from oversight by the commission.” The
deregulation of long distance services is subject to Section 364.02(14)g), as discussed above, which
contains a list of things that intrastate IXCs have to do. These include complying with a number of spemf' ic
statutes, and - critical here — continuing to pay access charges. :
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such calls would be classified as unregulated “intrastate long distance” traffic, also — supposedly —
beyond the Commission’s jurisdiction.
Of course, this is nons'ense... The‘ serviéc that ILECs provide to fheir end users is basic
telephone service. That (regulated) service includés within it — as one of its regulated ‘feat'ures —the
.abiiity to send calls to,. and receive calls from, wireless éubscribers, eind the ability to make and
 receive intrastate long diétance calls. The fact that wireless and intrastate long distancer.services are
~ beyond the Commission’s regulatory authority does not mean that the separate function of
providing conileétioris fo those deregulated services is dereguiated as well. A LEC prbviding
connections to a wireless nétwork 6r a long distance network is not, itself, providing wireless
_ sef{fices or-long disia.nce sen;ices. Itis providing local exchange services.
This shows the error in Verizon’s claim that the Legislature has limited the Commission’s
| jurisdiction iri a mimner relevant to this case. Verizon Motion at 76-7. In Section 364.01_i, thé
Legislanue lists VoIP as one of a number of services that are exempt from Commission oversight.
. But ox-rcrsigh_t of the access services providgd by a LEC to an IXC is.not ovcrsight of the services
offered by deregulated entities that might receive the traffic at issue. And, m Section 364.013, the
Legislature has said that “the provision of [VolIP] shall be free of state _regulatidn.” But regulating
an exchange access service provided by a LEC to'an IXC, used to deliver trafﬁc to a VoIP provider,

cannot reasonably be construed to constitute regulation of “the provision of” VoIP services.z"'

24 For this reason, Verizon's attempt at pages 10-11 of its Motion to- argue that the exemption of

“communications activities,” including VoIP, from Commission jurisdiction, somehow extends to access
services provided by Bright House-CLEC to Verizon, is unavailing.
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2, The Commission Has Jurisdiction Over Access Charge
Disputes. ' '

Verizon’s next argument further confuses the difference between specific types of providers -
that the Legislature has deregulated, and. the regulated services that such entities might buy.
Specifically, Verizon lnotes.(correctly) that the Legislature has deregulated the provision of retail
long distance services. However, it concludes (incorrectly) that this means that the Commission
lacks jurisdictioﬁ to resolve, disputes concerning the payrncﬁt of wholesale access charges by IXC_S.
See Verizon Motion at 8-9. Verizon states that:
the Commission has no jurisdiction over intrastaie interexchange
telecommunications companies or the intrastate interexchange telecommunications
services they provide. The only statutes the Legislature designated as continuing to
apply to_intrastate interexchange telecommunications companies are not relevant -
here.[note 13] '
Verizon Motion at 9. In footnote 13, Verizon cites Section 364.02(14)(g), duly listing the specific
statutes that the Legislature still applied to intrastate IXCs. But Verizon then ignores the fact that
the Legislature, in that same provision, expressly requires that intrastate IXCs:
shall continue to pay intrastate switched network access rates or other intercarricr
compensation to the local exchange telecommunications company or the
competitive local exchange telecommunications company for the origination and -
termination of interexchange telecommunications service.
Florida Statutes § 364.02(14)(g) (emphasis added). It is obviously wrong to suggest, in the face of
this statutory language, that IXCs have no obligation to pay access charges at all, and that the

Commission has no authority to enforce the plain terms of the statute. The plain language of the

~ statute is directly contrary to the argurhent Verizon is making.
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3. Section 364. 02(14)(g) Apphes Fully And D:rectly To This
Case,

At pages 11-14 of its Motion, Verizon argues that Sectioﬁ 364.02(14)(g) does not require
the payrﬁe_nt of access c?ha‘rges on the disputed traffic.” Here, Verizon addresses the téxt and
meaning of Sectiqn _364.02(14)(g).26 Verizon claims fhat the language of the statute does not
require the payment of access charges; in that it refers té payment of “intrastate switched network
access rates or other intercarrier compensation.” Verizon Motion at 1 1-12.

'fhc statute does mention “other intercarrier compensation,” but this does not help Verizon.
F1rst the statute obliges intrastate IXCs like Verizon to “centinue to pay” the charges in question,
The only logical reading of this ]anguage is that, whatever type of compensation the IXC has been
baying in the past, it is required to “continue to pay” that compensation in the future. There is no
dispute that Verizon routinely paid Bright House-CLEC"S access charges in the past, and then

stopped paying. ThlS violates its obligation to “Continue to pay” the applicable charges.

3 This argument, at least in part, is merely a re-hashing of Verizon’s erroneous claim that normal .

traffic on the public switched telephone network, exchanged between two carriers, becomes deregulated
simply because it is going to or coming from a VoIP subscriber. We refer the Commission to the d1scuss10n
above for an explanation of why that claim is wrong.

*® For ease of reference, here is the text of that provision, with the language relevant to this case

emphasized:

The term 'telecommunications company” does not include: ... (g} An intrastate
interexchange telecommunications company. However, cach commercial mobile radio
service provider and each intrastate interexchange telecommunications company shall

" continue to be liable for any taxes imposed under chapters 202, 203, and 212 and any fees
assessed under s. 364.025. Each intrastate interexchange telecommunications company shall
continue to be subject to ss. 364.04, 364.10(3)Xa) and (d), 364.163, 364.285, 364.336,
364.501, 364.603, and 364.604, shall provide the commission with the current information
as the commission deems necessary to contact and communicate with the company, and
shall continue to pay intrastate swilched network access rates or other intercarrier
compensation to the local exchange telecommunications company or the compeyitive local
exchange telecommunications company Sfor the origination and termination of
interexchange telecommunications service,
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Althoughl it does not quite say so,‘Verizon seems‘to be arguing that the statute gives IXCs
the bption-to either pay access charges, or to pay sorﬁe “otﬁer intercarrief compensation.” See
Vcrizon Motion at 12 (claiming that Verizon is‘ paying “intercarrier compensation” on the disputed
traffic). That is clearly ﬂot what the Legislature intended. 'Ind,egd, if Veriz_on’é reading is cén‘cct,

then every intrastate IXC_‘ in Florida has, evidently, misunderstobd this language from the morﬁent it

was passed. Under Verizon;s theory, the “other intercarrier compensati(;n” language means that

the Legislature was giving IXCs the right to a virtually free ride on any LECs’ network. The only
thing required, under Verizon’s reading, is that the IXC voluntarily pay something — anything — that
would cqunt' as “other intetcarrier compensatioh.”r The IXCs could unilaterally decide that thé
“other intercarrier compensation” they wanted to pay was a flat fee of $100 per month for unlimited
call tenﬁination service, or a 99% discount off tariffed rates, or anything else othér than outright
stealing of the LECs’ access services.

Obviously, this is wrong. The most natural reading of the statutory language is_also the
~correct one: whatever fees appﬁed in the pﬁst — whether chafacterized as access or not — must
continue to be paid. From this perspective, the law’s reference to "‘switc_hed network access rates or
other interéarricf compensation ... for the origination and 'terinination of interexchange
telecqmmunications services,” was an effort by the Legis}ﬁm}e to ensure that the LEC’s rates for
the function at issue — the origination and/or termination of _interexchange traffic — Would
“continue” to be paid, no matter what specific labellmight be applied to the rate charged for that |
function. Thé point of the sfatutle is to say that even though IXCs are_bei.ng deregulrated,' they arc
still required to comﬁly with the list of statuteé spepiﬁcally listed in Section 364.02(14)(g) — and to

| keep paying LECs for thé origination and termination of calls. In other words, the statute is
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7 designed to protect LECs against ‘léwless IXCs who Iﬁight interpret their deregulatedlstatus asa
license to try to obtain access services — hqwever named — either for free or at spécial low rates.?’

Verizon also claims that Bright House-CLEC’s ﬁled_acces§ charge price list does. not really
constitute a binding taﬁff, setting but_th¢ terms and conditions under which our access services are
offered; Verizon Motion at 12-13. Thig 1s an ddd arg_ﬁrnent coming from. Verizon, Which in two
recent instances before the Commission expressly argﬁed that the traditional “filed rate doctrine”
applies to CLEC access tariffs. To quote Verizon:** | |

As [the IXC] acknowledges, the Commission’s rules permit CLECs to éstablish
intrastate switched access rates by filing price lists with the Commission. [The IXC}
admits that [the CLLEC] has established its switched access rates in this manner and

- that [the TXC] was charged those rates for the switched access services it received.
The filed-rate doctrine prohibits {an IXC] from arguing that it should be allowed to
pay a different rate or secking damages based on rates that Verizon has filed with
the Commission. The Commission has rejected such claims under the principle that
if filed rates are ordered to be changed, they can only be changed prospectively, not
retroactively. [The IXC’s] request [to pay] rates other than those on file with the
Commission therefore must be rejected.

Verizon reaffirmed this view as recently ds last November:*

7 The fact that the Legislature left the IXCs’ spec[ﬁc obligation to keep paying access charges in the

Commission’s statute shows that Verizon’s claim that this case should be in a court, rather than at the
Commission, is misplaced. See Verizon Motion at 12 n.14. The Commission has Junsdxctlon to enforce the
~ provisions of its own statute, against carriers under its jurisdiction. In this case, at a minimum, the
Commission has the authority to determine that Bright House-CLEC’s access services price list applies to
.the traffic in dispute, to determine that Verizon is obliged to pay its access bills, and to determine that
Verizon is violating Section 364.02(14)(g) by failing to do so. Given the express statutory provisions at
issue here, Verizon is simply wrong to characterize this as a simple, unadorned “collection action.”

28 Complaint of Owest Communications Conipany, LLC against MCIMetro Access Transmission

Services (d/b/a Verizon Access Transmission Services); [et al ], for rate discrimination in connection with -
the provision of intrastate switched access services in alleged violation of Sections 364.08 and 364.10, .S,
MCIMetro Access Transmission Services LLC d/b/a Verizon Access Transmission Services Motion to
Dismiss Reparations Claim And Motion for Final Summary Order Dismissing All Other Claims Against
Verizon Access, Docket No. 090538-TP (filed January 29, 2010) at 5-6 (footnotes/citations omitted).

» Complaint of Qwest Communications Company, LLC -against MCIMetro Access Transmission

Services (d/b/a Verizon Access Transmission Services); {et-al ], for rate discrimination in connection with
the provision of intrastate switched access services in alleged violation of Sections 364.08 and 364.10, F.S.,
Answer of Verizon Access to Amended Complaint, Docket No. 090538-TP (filed November 16, 2010)

_ : (note continued}...
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39.  [The IXC] is not entitled to relief under the filed-rate doctrine because [the
CLEC’s] price list on file with the Commission is presumed to be just and
reasonable. ‘ ‘ _

40, [The .IXC] acknowledges that the Commission's rules permit CLECs to

establish switched access rates by filing price lists with the Commission. [The IXC]

admits that [the CLEC] has established its switched access rates in this manner and

that {the IXC] has been charged those rates for the switched access services it

received. ... The filed-rate doctrine prohibits [the IXC] from arguing that it should

be allowed to pay a rate different than that in the effective price list or obtain a

refund based on filed rates that it concedes are lawful, The Commission has rejected

such claims under the principle that if filed rates are ordered to be changed, they can

only be changed prospectively, not retroactively, [The IXC’s effort to pay] rates

other than those on file with the Commission therefore must be dismissed or denied.
Verizon set the matterlo.ut very succinctly: this Commission’s rules expressly permit a CLEC to
-establish switched access rates by 'ﬁlihg a price list with the Commission. --When a CLEC complies -
with that Commission procedure, an IXC cannot claim that the LEC’s filed rates do not apply.
InStead, if it objects to the rates, it must bring a corﬁplaint against those rates at the Commission. If
the Commission believes that changeé are necessary, it will so order, but the new rates would have
prospectiﬁe effect only.

To the cogent explanation quoted above of why CLEC access price lists are binding and
enforceable, we would oniy add that, while Commission rules may not literally require that a price
list for access services be filed, ohce one is filed, the CLEC is bound to follow it. I_nrthis regard;
Rule 25-24.820(1)(d), Florida Administrative Code, states that the Commission may revoke a
CLEC’s certificate for “violation of alpricé list standard.” Thus, by filing a price list, a CLEC'
commits itself — potentially on pain of losing its fundamental authority to- operate at all — to

following the terms and conditions contained there. Moreover, in approving the transfer of various

CLECs from one owner to another, the Commission in its orders routinely states that the acquiring

...(note continued)
(footnotes/citations omitted).
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company will adopt the acquired company’s price lists and continue to abide by them.>® Thus, once
a price list is filed, it is the regulatory equivalent of 4 tariff - binding on the carrier filing it, and,
 therefore, equally binding on the customers taking service under it,

‘Verizon next tries to twist the language of Section 364.02(13) to avoid its obligation to pay
for the access services it has been using, That provisidn states as follows (emphasis added):

(13) "Service" is to be construed in its broadest and most inclusive sense. The term

"service" does not include broadband service or voice-over-Internet protocol service

for purposes of regulation by the commission. Nothing herein shall affect the rights

and obligations of any entity related to the payment of switched network access

rates or other infercarrier compensation, if any, related to voice-over-Internet

protocol service. Notwithstanding s. 364.013, and the exemption of services

pursuant to this subsection, the commission may arbitrate, enforce, or approve

interconnection agreements, and resolve disputes as provided by 47 U.S.C. ss. 251

and 252, or any other applicable federal law or regulation. With respect to the

services exempted in this subsection, regardless of the technology, the duties of a

local exchange telecommunications company are only.those that the company is

obligated to extend or provide under applicable federal law and regulations.
The most natural reading of this language is that, notwithstanding the fact that VoIP service is
" deregulated, its -deregulated status “shall [not] affec z any obligations to pay access or other
intercarrier compénsation for VoIP traffic. This is exactly what Bright House-CLEC is saying:
VoIP providers and the retail VolP services they offer are outside the Commission’s jurisdiction,
~ but 1hat fact l1tera11y has nothing to do with “the obligations of any entity” — in this case, Verizon —

“related to the payment of switched network access rates or othcr mtercamer compensatlon in

connection W1th the exchange of trafﬁc bound to or from a VoIP prov1der

¥ See, e.g., In Re. Application of Florida Digital Network, Inc., d/b/a FDN Communications, Docket

No. 070190-TP; Order No. PSC-07-0361-PAA-TP, 2007 Fla. PUC LEXIS 232 (F1. PSC 2007).

3 The reason the statute refers to “any entity” as opposed to being limited to IXCs is twofold. First, in’

a LEC-to-LEC interconnection situation under Sections 251 and 252 of the. federal Communications Act,
questions of intercarrier compensation for VolIP traffic may well arise, Second, the statute addresses the
possibility that at some point 2 VoIP provider may directly seek to interconnect with an ILEC under Sections:
251/252. In these cases, the Legislature has directed the Commission to follow federal interconnection {aw.
Since federal law largely controls the interconnection process, that decision makes complete sense.
{note continued).,
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Verizon sets up a straw man, claiming that Sectilon 364.02(13) “does not give the
- Commission permission to impose such [intercarrier payment] arrangements.’-’ Verizon Motion at
14 (emphasis in original). DBut we ‘never argued that this statutory provision gave such
“permisgion” to the Commission. To be absolutely clear, in this case we are arguing that Verizon’s
legai obligation to pay its access chérge bills arises from: (1) the access rates incllu.dcd in Bright
House-CLEC’s price list, which is binding on both Bright House-CLEC and Verizon; and (2)
Section 364.02(14)(g), which expreésly requires that IXC “continue to pay” .access charges.
Section 364.02(13) performs a different function entirely — it precludes Verizon from arguing that
the deregulated status of VoIP services justifies Verizon’s effort to avoid its obligation to pay. That
is, the Legislature is saying — quite plainly, it seems to us — that even though it is deregulating VolP
_services and providers, that action does not alter any entity’s obligation to pay intercarrier
‘compensation with respect to traffic to and frdm the deregulated VoIP services. In other words,
Whét th.e Legislature did not want carriers to do — rely on the unre gqlated status of VoI services to
try to get out of their access bills — 'is exéctly what Verizon is trying to do.
4. Bright House-CLEC “and Bright House- Cable Are

- Separate Legal Entities With Separate Legal nghts And
Responsibilities,

Verizon ‘makes a somewhat tortured argument that “Bright House” ié somehow .tr'ying to-
obtain an unfair advantage of otherwise game the system by maiﬁtaining a corporate structure in
which cable, VoIP and other unregulated operations are handled by one company (Bright House-
‘Cable), while regulated CLEC operations are handled by another company (Bright .House-CLEC).

See Verizon Motion at 15-16. Verizon’s claim seems to be that if “Bright House” performed both

..{note continued)
_ Intcrpretmg the Legislature’s discussion of these federal interconnection matters as somehow relating to the
separate question of the obligation of IXCs to pay intrastate access charges to CLECs — which Verizon is
apparently trying to do — does not. See Verizon Motion at 13-14,
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regulated CLEC operatior.l‘S and 'ﬁnregulated VolP op_efations ina singie legal entity, thcﬁ our claim
could not proceed. | Building on that shaky premiée, Verizon ti1en aigues that sinég our claim could
(suppdsedly} not pfoceed if VoIP and CLEC operations were.in the same company, it cannot
proceed even though they are performed in different companies.

This argument fails for- the simplé reason .fhat, in fact, Bright Hque-CLEC provides
regulat.ed telecoxnmunicatioﬁs functions, while Bright House-Cable pfovides VolP and other
unregulated functions. Verizon has not suggested any facts or pro{zided any 'prei:edent to suggest
that maiﬁtairling two'différent legal entities to perform two ?astly different sets of activities is

: unusual in any way, much less inapprqpriate or illegal. Nor has Verizon suggested thaf there is any
reason to treat the separation of tﬁe companies as a sham or that the “corporate veil’ should be
p.iercecl_.32 :

But Verizon’s argument would be wrong even if “Bright House” provided all its setvices
v;zithin one legal entity. Chapter 364 defines the scope of the Commission’s regulatory authority
with‘referencc to specific services, not with respect to specific entities that may provide those
services. ObViOuslf., if a firm provides no regulated services, then that firm is “deregulated” and

outside the Commission’s jurisdiction, This is the situation with Bright House-Cable. But if Bright -

32 In this regard, we note that Verizon itself has maintained the separate corporate existence of
Verizon-ILEC (Verizon Florida, LLC) (the entity that performs ILEC operations) and Verizon Business
(MCI Communications Services, Inc., d/b/a Verizon Business Services) (the entity that provides long
distance services). . Indéed, Verizon has also maintained the separate corporate existence of yet a third
entity, MCIMetro Access Transmission Services (d/b/a Verizon Access Transmission Services) (which we
might call “Verizon-CLEC,” since it performs CLEC functions). See notes 28-29, supra, and accompanying
text. It does so, presumably, because different legal and regulatory obligations apply to the different
functions, and it is both legally and operationally convenient to put those separate functions, w1th their
distinct legal and regulatory obligations, in separate entities.

33 Thus, Section 364.01(3) deregulates certain “communications activitics;” Section 364.011 exempts

particular “services” from Commission oversight; Section 364.013 exempts “broadband service” and “the
provision of” VoIP, and Section 364.02(13) excludes “broadband service” and “voice-over-Internet-protocol
" service” from the general definition of the term “service.” :
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House-Cable and Bright House-CLEC were to merge into one entity, norhing would change: the
CLEC operations and functions would remain under the Commission’s jurisdiction, and the video,
VolP, and broadband Interrret Operations would remain outside of it Tﬁe‘ implicatidn of Verizon’s
argument is that a firm can escape the regulatory obl‘igatjons applicable to its regtilated services
simply by performing unregulated services as well. Tﬁis is obviously wrong.

In fact, Verizon’s complaints about the separate legal existence of Bright House-Cable and
Bright HousefCLEC amount to nothing mote than some “atmospheric” suppdrt of its general idea
that the deregulation of VolP services is a vague and free-floating affair, imparting immunity from
Commission jurisdiction to anyth.ing those services mrght touch. So, without any coherent logicelr .
analyms in Verizon’s view of things, Bright House- Cable is deregulated and its VolP service is
deregulated so anything Bright House-CLEC supplies to Brlght House-Cable that is necessary
deregulated VoIP service must be beyond the Commission’s regulatory authorlty as well. This is
so, supposedly because requiring Verizon to pay access charges to Brtght House—CLEC “would
Tegulate the VoIP service, -and the entity providing it, just as surely as requiring a local exchange
carrier to file tariffs ... would regulate that carrier.” Verizdn Motion at 16.

It is hard to know what to make of this argument. Bright House-Cable can configure its
VoIP offering to its subscribers however it wanrs, arld can charge those subscribers whatever rates
make sense in the market. That is what being “deregulated;’ means. One of the things Bright
_Hquse-Cable needs, though, is connectivity to the PSTN It buys that connecﬁvity from Bright
House-CLEC.j The fact that Bright House-Cable needs PSTN connectivity to offer its ‘unregu‘lated

service does not deregulate the provision of PSTN connectivity, any more than the fact that Bright.
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House-Cable needs electricity to offer its unregulated service -deregulates the prdvision of
electricity.™ |
| kA AK

Verizon’s entire statutory argument is built on vaéueness, sloppy réading of legislative
language, and, ultimately, arm-waving. The Legislature said that cvén though IXCs were being
generally deregulated, they had to keep dn paying access cha;geé,. The Legislature then said that
even though VoIP services were being deregulated, that action did hot affect the obligation of IXCs
(or anyone else) to pay- access charges. Bright House-CLEC’s access charges are contained in a
duly filed, effective and enforceéble price liét, established in conformity with this Commission’s
rules. Verizon paid them for years. Then it unilaterally and arbitrarily stopped paying, clairﬁing
;ha;c it could do 80 blecalise Bright House-CLEC’s customer was an uhregulatcd VoIP provider.
- Verizon’s actions are impossible to square with the requirements of our effective price list and
impossible to square with the plam language of the Florida Statutes.

B. Verizon’s Claim That Federal Law Prevents Adjudication Of Bnght
House-CLEC’s Complaint Is Entirely Without Merit.

. Verizon argues that federal law prohibits the Commission from granting the Complaint, Its

arguments are entirely without merit,

3 Verizon claims in passing that Bright House-CLEC “has only.one customer—Bright House-Cable.”

Verizon Motion at 16. Ev1dently Verizon views this as supportlng its . view that the separate corporate '
identify of the two companies is suspect. Verizon, however, is wrong on several counts. First, Bright
House-Cable may be the only entity that presently buys wholesale PSTN access from ‘Bright House-CLEC,
but a number of long distance carriers buy exchange access services from Bright House-CLEC — including
Verizon itself, though it refuses to pay its bills. The claim that Bright House-CLEC has only one customer,
therefore, is simply not true. Moreover, even if Bright House-CLEC only had one customer, that would be
irrelevant here, This is because, by virtue of its CLEC certification, Bright House-CLEC’s local exchange
services are available to entities other than Bright House-Cable, even if no other such entities are presently
buying those services. Indeed, in part based on its certification, Bright House-CLEC’s carrier status has
been affirmed by the FCC and the courts after that status was challenged by Verizon. Bright House
Networks, LLC, et al, v. Verizon California, Inc., et al., 555 F.3d 270, 276-76 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
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1. VoIP Service Is Not Inherently Interstate In Nature, And
- The FCC Has Not Preempted State Action Regardmg
Fixed VolP Semces

Verizon claims that the FCC, in the Vonage case, establishé:d the rule that all calls to or
from a VoIP service are inherently interstate. iBased on this claim, Veﬁzon argues that. fgderal law
prevents the Commission from considering the Complaint, even if Florida law permits the case to
go forward. Vetizon Motion at 19-23.

~This claim is so blatantly wrong‘—' and yet, at the same time, so central to Verizon’s entire
poéitiori-— that it must be rebutted in detail.

- Start with the FCC’s ruling in Vonage. In the Comi)laint, we pointed out that Vonage did
not purport to preempt state authority over fixed VoIP services (such as those offered by Bright
House-Cable). See Complaint at § 28 & notes 33-34. Verizon takes issue with that assertion,
stating as follows:”

The FCC’s Vonage Order, Iupheld by the Eighth Circuit, found that VolP traffic is

inseverably interstate for jurisdictional purposes, and that states are preempted from

regulating the rates, terms, and conditions under which VoIP providers operate.

Contrary to Brtght House’s suggestions (Complaint at 15), the FCC did not limit

its conclusions in Vonage strictly to “nomadic” VoIP services (which can be used

JSrom multiple locations), as opposed to “fixed” VolIP services like Bright House’s

(which are associated with a particular location). The FCC made clear that its

preemption analys1s applied not just to Vonage’s service, but also to “other types of

IP-enabled services having basic characteristics similar to” that service — a‘class the

FCC expressly recognized included “cable companies” and other “facilities-based
providers.” ' ‘ '

Verizon’s statements above are simply, flatly wrong — as Verizon should well know, since it was an
‘intervening party in the federal court appeal of the Vonage ruling, in which the actual state of the

law was established.®

3 Verizon Motion at 19 {emphasis added, footnotes omitted}.

See Minnesota Public Utilities Commission v. FCC, supra, 483 F.3d at 570. The full caption of the
decision available through the LEXIS database provides the full list of all parties and intervenors; Verizon is
(note continued). ..
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The_ FCC based its ruling in Forage on the facts preéentéd i_n that case, which involved a
state regulator attempting to impose traditional utility régulaﬁon on Vonage, an entity that provided
a ﬁomadic VoIP service called “DigifalVoice.” _The FCC preempted the state commission’s
assertion of authority over DigitalVoice. Tt didlso‘, however, in expréss reliance on the nomadic
nature of the service. S-pcciﬁcally,. the FCC preempted the Minnesota PUC because it was
impossible to separate DigitalVoice into interstate and intrastaté portions. The key rea‘s;on‘s‘uch '
separation could _riot occur was‘the nomadic nature of the gewice:3 a

23. In this section, we examine whether there is any plausible approach to separating

DigitalVoice into interstate and intrastate components for purposes of enabling dual

federal and state regulations to coexist without *“negating” federal policy and rules.

We find none. Without a practical means to separate the service, the Minnesota .
Vonage Order unavoidably reaches the interstate components of the DigitalVoice

service that are subject to exclusive federal jurisdiction. Vonage has no means of
directly or indirectly identifying the geographic location of a DigitalVoice

subscriber, Even, however, if this information were reliably obtainable, Vonage’s

service is far too multifaceted for simple identification of the user’s location to

indicate jurisdiction. Moreover, the significant costs and operational complexities

associated with modifying or procuring systems to frack, record and process

geographic location information as a necessary aspect of the service would

substantially reduce the benefits of using the Internet to provide the service, and

potentlally inhibit its deployment and contmued availability to consumers.

24. DigitalVoice harnesses the power of the Internet fo enable its users to establish
a virtual presence in multiple locations simultaneously, to be reachable anywhere

~ they may find a broadband connection, and to manage their communications
_needs from any broadband connection. The Internet’s inherently global and open
architecture obviates the need for any correlation between Vonage’s DigitalVoice
service and its end users’ geographic locations. As we noted above, however, the
Commission has historically applied the geographic “end-to-end” analysis to
distinguish interstate from intrastate communications, As networks have changed
and the services provided over them have evolved, the Commission has increasingly
acknowledged the difficulty of using an end-to-end analysis when the services at -

...(note continued)
among them.

37 Vonage Holdings Corporation, Petition for Declaratory Ruling Concerning an Order of the

Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 19 FCC Red 22404 (“Vonage™)
at 97 23-24 (emphasis added, footnotes omitted).
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issue involve the Intemet. DigitalVoice shares m'aﬁy of the same_characteriéfids as

these other services involving the Internet, thus making jurisdictional determinations

about ‘particular DigitalVoice communications based on an end—pomt approach

difficult, if not impossible.

Whilé not the only factor that the FCC considered, the fact that DigitalVoicc was a nomadic
service, and the asgociated fact that Vonage had no practical way to determine the end points of
calls, was a critical factor for the FCC. | '

Despite the criticé] role that géographic mobility played in the FCC’s decision to preempt
state regulation of DigitalVoice service, the FCC did say that “to" the extent other entities, such as
cable companies; provide VoIP services, we would preempt state regulation to an extent
comparable to .what we have done in this Order.”® If that were the end of the story, that would
prévide a reasonable basis for thinking that regulation of Bright House-Cable’s \‘IQIP.SBFX./iCB has
been, or at least should ﬁe, preempted as well. The problem for Verizon's argument, however, is

- what happened next. o | |

Numerdus parties appéalcd the FCC’s ruling. One of those pérties was the New York PSC,
That body speciﬁcélly‘ objected to thé idea that the Vonage ruling could bé rt;ad as preemptihg state
regulatioﬁ of fixed VoIP sefvices, such as thosé _offere(i by cable companies. When confronted
with that objection, the FCC did not try to defend the vicv? that its preemption ruling covered fixed
VolP services. To the COntr'.ary, in order to preserve its'maiﬁ point — the preempﬁve dgregﬁlaﬁon of
nomadic VolP — the FCC expressly repudiated the idea that its precniption reached ﬁxed services.

It is also true, as Verizon says, thé.t the 8" Circuit 'upheid the FCC’S ruling in V‘onage. Buf

it is completely obvious from the face of the 8" Circuit’s ruling that it did so in express reliance on

Vonage at 9 32.
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the FCC’s repudiation of having preempted any aspect of state regulation of any fixed VoIP
- services. After summarizing the New York PSC’s concerns, here is what the court said:*®

The FCC argues this issue [preemption of fixed VolP] is not ripe for judicial review.

' Its order states “to the extent other entities, such as cable companies, provide VoIP
services, we would preempt state regulation to an extent comparable to what we
have done in this Order.” Id. (emphasis added). Because the order only addresses
services “having basic characteristics similar to DigitalVoice,” id, and does not
specifically address fixed VoIP service providers, the FCC argues the NYPSC's
appeal is premature. The FCC contends the language is at most a prediction of
what it might do if faced with the issue of fixed VolP service providers, and argues
we should decline to rule on the mevits of the NYPSC's appeal until presented with
an order preempting state regulation of fixed VolP service providers.

"In other words, the FCC told the court that the Fonage order had not, in fact, preempted any state
rcgulation of fixed VofP services or ﬁxed VolP providers. This matters because federal courts only
have conétimtional authority to decide actual “live” disputes. The New York PSC’s chalienge to
the ordér would be dismissed as “not ripe,” fhefeforé, if — as the FCC was now saying. to the court —
thé T/onage order actually did not preempt state é\uthoritjr regarding -ﬁxed VolIP services. That, in
fact is what the court ruled:*’ | |

We conclude the NYPSC's challenge to the FCC's order is not ripe for review, The .
order only suggests the FCC, if faced with the precise issue, would preempt fixed
VoIP services. Nonetheless, the order does not purport to actually do so and until
that day comes it is only a mere prediction. ... Indeed, as we noted, the FCC has
since indicated VeoIP providers who can track the geographic end-points of their
calls do not qualify for the preemptive effects of the Vonage order. See Universal
Serv. Contribution Methodology, 21 F.C.C.R. at 7546 P 56. As a consequence,
NYPSC's contention that state regulation of fixed VoIP services should not be
preempted remains an open issue. :

Simply stated, in order to defend its preemption of nomadic VoIP services such as that offered by

Vonage, the FCC told the 8" Circuit that its rulirig'did not reach fixed VoIP services, and, based

largely on that statement, the court rejected the New York PSC’s challenge to the Fonage order. N

3 Minnesota Public Utilities Commission v. FCC, 483 F.3d at 582 (first emphasis in original) .

40 Id at 582-83 (emphasis added, citation omitted).
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The other factor relied on by the court, however, is also signiﬁcant: the FCC’s discussion of
preemption in the Federal USF Assessment Order,*' As the 8™ Circuit observed, if there was any.
doubt about the critical significance of the ability of a VoIP provider' to track the location of calls,
that was laid to rest in the FCC’s discussion of USF issues. Verizon whistles past this particular
graveyard, see Verizon Motion at 20-22, but the FCC’s express statement about preemption in that.
ruling destroys Verizon’s claims here:*

[To] the extent that an interconnected VoIP provider develops the capability to track

the jurisdictional confines of customer calls, it may calculate its universal service

contributions based on its actual percentage of -interstate calls. Under this

alternative, however, we note that an interconnected VolP provider with the
capability to track the jurisdictional confines of customer calls wounld no longer
qualify for the preemptive effects of our Vonage Order and would be subject to

state regulation. This is because the central rationale justifying preemption set

forth in the Vonage Order would no longer be applzcable to such an
mterconnected VoIP provider.

This FCC ruling establishes two points. First, a VoIP pro{ridér that can't:fack the jurisdictidn of
calls does not “qualify for the preemptive effects of [the] Vonage Order” and, as a result, is
“subject to state regulation.” Second, the inability to track cﬁstomer locatiqn was, indeed, “the
central rationalé justifying prccrription” in Vonage.” |

This FCC statement completely obliterates Verizon's assertion that “the .' policy
considerations underlying” the FCC’s preemption decisions in Vonage “apply with equal force to
all VoIP services, including the service offered by [Bright House-Cable].” Verizon Motion at 20. -

The FCC itself has made clear that the “central rationale” of preemption — the key policy

‘ Umversal Service Contribution. Methodology, Report and Order and Notlce of Proposed
Rulemaking, 21 FCC Red 7518 (2006) (“F ederal USF Assessment Order™} at | 56.

42 Id (em phasis added).
43

41

To the extent it i spemﬁcal y relevant, Bright House—CLEC can demonstrate that it calculates its
USF payments based on actual information regarding the jurisdiction of the calls made by Brlght House-
Cable’s VoIP subscribers, not on the basis of any safe harbor or estimation.
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consideration for that qﬁestidn — is. whether the VoIP provider can track the loc.ation of its
customérs when they use the service. Since fixed VolP lﬁroviders can obviously do so, “the policy
considerations underlying” Vonage do not apply fo fixed VolIP providers. -

In the face of these rulings, there is si;npiy no rational way to say that the FCC has taken
any actions that have the effect of preempting this Commission’s authority to decide this case.
Back in 2004, in the original Vonage order, ,th.e FCC said some things that suggested that it might
téke such preemptive action W1th respect to fixed VoIP in the future. When challenged in court on
the claim that it had preempted state authority ovex; fixed VoIP, the FCC ran for cover and
disclaimed evelr having done -so, leading to an express appellate court ruling,-.in' 2007, that no such
preerﬁption had occurred. And in the meantime, in 2006, the FCC made clear that preemption did
nét apply to fixed VoIP providers who could (necessarily) idéntify the locations of their customers,
notihg that this ability nulliﬁed. “the central rationale justifying preemption.”

In these circumstances, Vcﬁzbn"s effort to distinguish both the Federal USF Assessment
Order and the State USF Assessment Order fail. See Verizon Motion at 22. 'Fundamentally, the.
reason tﬁa‘t we knoﬁv that Vonage did not preempt state authoﬁty over fixed VoIP services is that.
the FCC itself told the 8™ Circuit that it did not, and the 8% Circuit relied on that sl?atement in
rééching its ruling. And, as just discussed, we know from the .Federal USF Assessment Order that
if a VoIP provider can identify the Iocaiion of its customers, then federal preemption does not

_apply. For this reason, while it is true, as Verizon notes; fthat the FCC:ls_aid that nothing in the State
USF Assessment Qrder affected the conclusions in Vonage, that doesn’t matter here, because the

conc¢lusions in Vorage do not apply to fixed, cable-delivered VoIP services in the first place.
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Finally, Verizon’s reliance on the newly-issued USF/Intercarrier Compensation NPRM* ‘in
this regard is completely unwarranted. Verizon claims that statements by the FCC somehow
“confirm that VoIP calls are not just like any other calls for intercarrier compensation purposes.”
Verizon Motion at 22. But in fact, the USF/Intercarrier Compeﬁsatz’on NPRM simply confirms that

the FCC has done nothing about this topic for the last decade:*
Since 2001, the Commission has sought comment in various proceedings on the
appropriate ~ intercarrier compensation obligations associated with
telecommunications traffic that originate or terminate on IP networks. Even so, the

Commission has declined to explicitly address the intercarrier compensation
obligations associated with VolP traffic. '

In other words, there is no FCC fuling that decides the qucﬁtion of what intércarrier cpmpensation
applies to VOIP. Morcov.er, as noted above, the FCC has expressly recognized that, until and unless
it acts, existing rules — “antiquated” though they may be — arerthe only rules that either it or state
regulatory bodiés ha\fe to apply to calls to or from VoIP subscribers. In thel FCC’s words:
“[a]lthough the Commission has sought comment on a var.iety of proposals aver the last decade to
comprehensively reform inte_rcarrier compensation, such efforts stalled, leavi'ng the current
antiquated rules in place.”*® | | | |

Verizon apparently thinks that when the FCC admits that it_has do-ne nothing to resol\_/e,an
- issue for the Eas-t 10 years, but declares yet agéin its intention to really, tr_uly, resolye it now, that
somehow means that the F CC has pre'empted actions by state regulators to deal with this issue. The
actual implication of this situation is»exac'tl.y to the contrary: state commissions retain thleir full

authority to act on intrastate matters that come before them, based on the law as it exists now, until

a4 USF/Intercarrier Compensation NPRM, note 6, supra.

B 1 at1610.
46 Id. at § 501 (emphasis added, footnotes omitted).
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and unless either the law is chaﬁged (which it has not yet beenj, or unti! their state—levéi authority is
expressly preempted by the FCC (which it has not yet been).

Indeed, the fact that state commissions retain full authority to decide these issues, and to
imposé intrastate access charges on physically intrastate traffic going to or coming' from VoIP
servicés, is shown by the fact that any nﬁmber_ of state commissions have done exactly that, As we
noted in the Complaint, essentially every state commission to have been confronted with a dispute
of this type he;s ‘brushed aside IXC claims that this is an exciusivcly federal issue and has treated
calls to or from VoIP services just like dny other PSTN traffic. See _Complaint at 8 & n.15 ‘(Iisting
cases). The repeated actions of states from Georgia to Iowa to Kansas to New Hampshire in -
réquixing IXCs to pay intrastate access charges on intrastate calls to or from VoIP subscribers
confirms that under present law, normal intrastate access charges apply to this traftic.

2. VoIP Service May Be An Information Service, But That
~ Has Nothing To Do With This Case. ‘

Verizon claims that (a) VoIP service is an information service and that (b) this méaﬁs that
Verizon is exempt from paying 'aéce;ss- cha;ges to Bright Hous_e-CLEC when its 10ngldista.mce
customers make calls to VoIP subscribers who are served by B_righf House-Cable. Verizon Motion
at 23 -26. This claim is a non sequitur. |

At thc; outset, despite Verizon’s brave effort to cétablis;h the status of VoIP as an
information service under federal la{v, if there is one thing we know for sure, it is that that specific
question.remains an open issﬁe. In the current NPRM on which Verizon places so much reliance,
the FCC says, flat-out, that it “has not yet classified interconnected ‘VOIP services as

‘telecommunications services’ or ‘information services’ under the definitions of the Act.”” The

i Id. at § 35 (footnote omitted)
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regulatory classification of interconnected VolP-is, to coin a phrase, a “known unknown.” Because
we know for sure that VoIP has not been classified for regulatory purposes, Verizon’s argument
_that this Commission cann_ot‘proceed in this case because we supposedly knoﬂv that VoIP is
(supposedly) an information service is clearly groundless.

Moreover, this argument is simply beside the p'oint. Obv.iously if VoIP turns out to bé a
telecomﬁﬁcations service, Verizon’s entire érgument falls apart. 'But'.let’s.assume.that- VoIP
service, itself, is an information service. That means, in this case, that the éervice that Bright
House-Cable provides to its end uéers is an_inforrﬁétion_service. Verizon, however, is not buying
, access setvices from Bright House-Cable — it is bliying access services from Bright House-CLEC.
On this point, Verizon is simply rehashing its somewhat incoherent claim that normal rules and
fegﬁlations don’t apply' to Bright Houée—CLEC and the services it provides, because it is somehow
~in an “essential role” with regard to Bright House-Cable’s VOIP services. Verizon Motion at 25.
But Bright House-CLEC’s “essential role” is simply to provide telecommunication§ services. To
Bright House-Cable, We provide local connectivity to the PSTN. To Verizon (and other IXCs), we
provide originating and términating access service. We are entitled to, and expect to, get paid for
both functions.*®
| Again, to state the obvious: Bright House-CLEC is a carrier. Pursuant to Commission nﬂes _.
 and practices, Bright House-CLEC has an effective access service price list on file with the

Commission. Verizon is an intrastate IXC, and is expressly obliged by Florida law to continue to

“8 Verizon’s confusion on this point is evident in statements like the following: “The same rules that

prevent VoIP providers from having to pay access charges when they deliver TP-to-PSTN traffic to
terminating local exchange carriers preclude them from collecting access charges when they receive PSTN-
to-IP traffic or deliver IP-to-PSTN traffic to toll-free 8Y'Y destinations,” Verizon Motion at 25 (emphasis in
original). Nobody suggests that Bright House-Cable should pay access charges, and nobody suggests that it
should receive them. Bright House-Cable is a provider of (among other things) deregulated reta:l VoIP
services. It neithét uses, nor provides, wholesale access services.

32




pay Bright House-CLEC’s filed rates.' Bright House-Cable, by contrast, is an unregulated firm that
buys services from Bright House-CLEC. All of Verizon’s tortufed claims about how federal law |
somehow infects controls, influences, or preempté regﬁlatién of the dealings between Bright
House-CLEC and Verizon are wrong. They are based éither on serious misreadings of What the
FCC has said, or, sometin;les', on a flat-out decision to ignore what the FCC, and the courts, have
said. The Commission should reject all of thqsé _clairné and move forward with this case.

3. Federal Court Cases Do Not Support Verizon’s Position
Here, _ ‘ - : '

In the Corﬁplajnt, we cited ‘two federal court cases.— ihe PaeTec and Me.tT el_ cases — that we
understood Verizon to be relying bn to justify its refusai to pay its access charge bills. C(l)mplaint, T
24, note 26. There, we noted that these cases are not binding in Florida. Verizon agrf.;es; See‘
Vérizon Motion at 19 (*...although these cases are not binding'on the Commission...”). At a
minimum, therefore, Verizdn has conceded that there is no binding federal court decision that
controls this case: Verizon’s arguments, therefore, must be understood as simply that — arguments,
that must rise or fall on their own merits. As discussed above, Verizon’s argumgnts fail fhat test,

Because Verizon has _fbrthrightly conceded that PaeTec and MetTel afe not binding on the |
Commission, the need to rebut 1hos¢ cases in detail is diminiéhed. Very briefly, both courts were
confused by the meéning and appiication of the ESP EXemptibn. As we explained in the Complaint
" (at ] 23-25), that doctrine means that an entity that provides an umegﬁlated information service |
cannot be forced to buy accéss services, or to pay peruminufe access charges, in order to obtain
connections to the PSTN. Instead, such providers are entitled to connect to the PSTN on the same
terms as a business customer buying an end user tclecomlﬁunications service. The exefnption says
nothing at all ébout how carriers delivering traffic to or from an information service provider

should billr each other — although one sensible interpretation is that, if the information service
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provider uses its business line to make a standard outbound long distance cali, that call should be
treated like any other long distaﬁce call — that is, access charges should apply. Similarly, if a
tlistant end user makes a normal long distance call to the telephone line serving the -informatiort
service provider, normal access charges should apply as the call makes its way through the
network. . |

In this regard, the PaeTec and MetT e? courts 1ﬁade_ two mistakes. First, they doncluded
without qualification that VoIP constitutes an information service under federal law, a conclusion
that .the FCC has scrupulously avoided reaching. See Complaint at § 21. But even if VoIP is an
information service, that just means that VoIP providers ctm invoke thé ESP. Exemption, so that
they can avoid being fequiréd to cotmect to the network like an IXC and fhey can avoid patying
access charges. .Nothing in the ESP Exemption supports the view that traffic to or from an
information service provider — VoIP or otherﬁvise ~ becomes exempt from at:t:ess charges as it
flows through the PSTN. This is shown among other thmgs by the fact that essentially every state
regulator to conSJder the question has found that access charges — mcludmg, Spec1ﬁcally, mtrastate
access charges — can indecd be. properly assessed by LECs on an IXC that is cxchangmg traffic
with the LEC that is going to or from a VoIP prov1der See Complaint at § 8 & note 15.

Finally, it bears mention that the most recent federal court case to consider whether traffic
to or from a VoIP subscriber can be subject to access char_ges t:oncluded that it could be. In Central
Telephone v. Sprint,* a long distancé carrier, Sprint, unilaterally decided to stop paying access
charges on VoIP-ot-igiJ;ated traffic to Central Telephone, a LEC. -Whille the procedural setting was.

somewhat complicated, one of Sprint’s claims was that it could not be required to pay access

49 Central Telephone Co. of Vzrgmza v, Sprint Communications Co of Virginia, Inc., 2011 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 20711 (E.D. Va, 2011)
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charges on VoIP traffic because such a result was supposedly contrary to federal law. The federal
court entirely rejected that claim:
Sprint even went so far as to claim that, had [a section of the contract in dispute]
definitively required access charges for VolP traffic, that section — and by extension,
the [contract] — would have violated federal law, The latter contention carries no .
weight at all. Sprint itself admits that the FCC has yet to rule on the propriety of
access charges for the type of VoIP traffic at issue in this action. It goes without
saying that a party cannot violate federal law in an area when no federal law
exists. :
That is as succinct a summary as one could imagine of everything wrong with Verizon’s federal
law arguments. Given that “the FCC has yet to rule on the propriety of access charges™ for VoIP
traffic, it “carries no weight at all” to claim that it violates federal law to proceed with a case — like
the case here — to collect them. And, “it goes without saying” that proceeding with a case to collect
access charges from Verizon — the case here — “cannot violate federal law in an area when no

federal law exists.”

C. There Is No Valid Reason To Stay This Case And Every Reason To Proceed
With It.

Ina last-ditch effort to avoid paying its access bills, Verizon claims that this Commission
should stay this proceeding.because i:he FCC has said fhat it really, truly, actually _meéns it this
time, When it says it is going to promptly resolve all questions regarding intercarrier compensation
‘fm;. traffic originating or terminating on a VofP service “in the near future.” Verizon Motion at 26-°
30. This claim is Qrong ‘for several different reasons.”’

Firét, no matter what forward-looking fules_the FCC might set for intercarrier compensation

between LECs and IXCs for traffic originating or terminating on a VoIP service, it cannot

9 Id at[*44] (emphasis added).
o To the extent that Verizon is arguing that the Commission should ignore this case because the issue
supposedly “falls within exclusive federal jurisdiction,” Verizon Motlon at 27, that claim is, obkusly,

wrong on the merits for all the reasons discussed above.
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retroacti\lfely invalidate the application of current law to such ttafﬁc. - As we noted 'in the .
Complamt, Verizon already owes us more than $2 millibn in unpaid acéeés fees, and tﬁat amount is
growing- by $500,000: per“month. ‘Complaint at 99 7, 36. So, Verizon will owe us.more than $3
millioﬁ by the time comments 1o the FCC are due, totally putting éside questions of when the FCC
might actually rplc. If the FCC gets reply comments in May, and then manages “to get the entire
rulemaking proceeding decidéd before its‘ summer vacation in August, another $2 million or so will
be added to Verizon’s tab. This is a real dispute thét wbn’t g0 away no matter what the FCC Says
or does..52 |
Second, despite its stated good intentions, there is no actual, objective reason to think that
the FCC will take swift and effective action now, any more than it took swift and effective action
folldwing its rulemaking proposal from April 2001‘,‘its rulemaking proposal from March 2005, or
its rulemaking proposal from November 2008. Doubtless most industry observers hafe their own
opinions as to why the FCC seems incapable of making _difﬁc-:ult deéisions, but we submit that évery ‘
informed observer understands that the FCC has severe problems doing so. If Verizon really does
have faith that this time will be different, that is in some respects touclﬁng, but provides absblutely
no basis upon which this Commission could responsibly base a decision_ to alléw Verizon to ev'ade_
its plain statutory obligation to “continue to péy” its access charge bills, |
~ And, make no mistake, that is the real reason that Verizon is asking for a stay. Verizon has
unilaterally declared what it wants the FCC to do — hold that accesé cha:ges do nc;t apply to calls to
or from fixed VoIP subscribers. Based on its own raw self-interest, starting lést August, it

pretended that the FCC Had somehow already reached that conclusion, and stopped paying its

2 As noted above, while oriti_ciiing itself for its own inability to act, the FCC forthrightly admitted .
that, as a result of its inaction topics, current rules — “antiquated” though they may be — apply to VolP-

originated and ~terminated traffic. USF/Intercarrier Compensation NPRM at § 501.
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access bills. The longer_it'can avoid pe.ying ite bills, the better its cash flow, and the greater its
ability to put financial pressure on Bright House-CLEC. There is nothing principled or prudent or
efficiency-based about Veﬁzon’s position. It is all about money a.nd muscle,

As suggested in the fntroduotion, the. unfairness of Verizon’s proposal can be seen by an
analogy to a proposal now pending in Congress to cap individual and corporate income taxes at
25% of the taxpayer s adjusted gross income. 53 If Verizon used this proposal as an excuse to stop
paying its corporate income taxes now, the tax authorities Would'be unswaycd by claims that this
time, for sure, real federal tax reform was just around the comner. That possibility would certainly
not justify staying an IRS collection action to enforce current tax rules against Verizon.

_Verizon’s suggestion that staying tﬂis case will encourage settlement of it, see Verizon
Motion at 28-29, is particﬁlarly unconviooing. Right now, Verizoo isn’t paying its bills, It has no |
incentive to pay us anything at all. If the Commission stays fhie case, Verizon will have no
incentive to pay us either, since the risk that it rhjght be ordered to do-so wiil be lifted. On the other
‘hand, with this case going forward, and Verizen exposed to the prospect' of being forced to pay its
"bills, Verizon would, for the first time, have an incentive fo discuss meaningful settlement options.
If the Commission wants to maximize fhc chanceof this case settling, 'ft needs to move forward
with it, not stay it.** Moreover, tflere are no administrative efﬁciencies to be geined by staying this

pfoceeding; a stay will only result in unproductive delay.

$ See ID. McKinnon, “Tax Plan Aims for 25% Cap,” WALL STREET JOURNAL (March 17, 2011)

http://online wsj com/amcle/SBl0001424052748703899704576204971305258778 html?mod=WSJ hp MI
DDLENextto WhatsNewsThird.

54 Anecdotally, the Commission and staff may recail how many issues in the recent Bright House-

CLEC/Verizon-ILEC arbitration were settled once the case was moving forward, with testimmony and
briefing having to be filed, etc.
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For all tﬁese reasons, Verizon’s proposal to stay this case while we all wait, interminably,
for the FCC to act, is unjust, unreasonable, one-éidéd, and unfair. The Commission should reject it -
and move forward with setting a schedule for the case to proceed.

III. CONCLUSION, | 7

As described above, Verizon’s Motion to Dismiss is Withoﬁt merit. Florida law obliges
Verizon to “continue td pay” its access charge bills, and states that the_ Legislature’s decision to
deregulate VolP services doe.s not affectlthat obligation. Not only has the FCC not preempted staté
regﬁlation of fixed VoIP service, it has expressly disclaimed ‘that any suéhl preemption has
~ occurred. The FCC has stated that current rules' - “antiquated” though they may be — apply to
carriers’ current exchange of traffic. | Confrary to Verizon’s claims, therefore, there is simply no
Afed'eral law that preempts ‘or controls the question of whcﬁhcr VolP-originated or —terminated traffic
may be subject to access charges; it follows that it cannot violate any such federal law to proceed
with this case‘.. The Commission, m&efore, plainly has jurisdiction to move forward. It is therefore
qﬁite clear that Verizon has fail_ed to meet the very high standard for dismissal, Brigh;; House-
CLEC ha's,.in fact, stated a causé of action upon which the Commission can: grant relicf, and as

- such, the Commission should proceed to hear this case.
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As to the requgst for a stay, putting aside the obvious dangers in puttilig our faith in the
FCC reaching a prompt and effective decision regarding intercarrier compensation any time soon,
Verizon’s stay request is not only utterly self-seryi_ﬁg; granting it would diminish, not enhance, the
chances of a private settlement of this matter. Verizon’s stay request should bcr denied as well.

Respectfully submitted this March 21, 2011,

—r2va

Christopher W. Saﬁage E Beth Keating

Davis Wright Tremaine, LLP: ' Gunster Yoakley :

1919 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Suite 800 215 South Monroe Street, Suite 618
Washington, D.C. 20006 Tallahassee, FL 32301-1804

Tel: 202-973-4200 : Tel: 850-521-1706
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Attorneys for Bright House Networks Informatian Services (Florida), LLC
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